IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 09 2014

Appeal from Richland County
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Case Nos. 08-GS-40-03948; 08-GS-40-01626; 1627, 1629, 1631, 1632

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2013-001904

RECEIVED

JAN 09 2014

The State,

S.C. Supreme Court
Respondent,

v.

Johnnie Walker Gaskins,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TARA DAWN SHURLING
Attorney and Counselor at Law

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A
Columbia, S. C. 29204
(803)738-8622 Phone
(803)738-1600 Fax
Email: tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Did the Court of Appeals improperly conclude that the Trial Court correctly ruled on the issue of the admissibility of crime scene photographs depicting blood splatters and blood pooling, which were duplicative and admitted for the purpose of inflaming the passions of the jury?

II.

Did the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Petitioner's motion for a mistrial, based on the admission of improper and highly prejudicial hearsay testimony, in the form of a dying declaration and a statement from an anonymous telephone caller?

III.

Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to recognize that Petitioner's right to due process of law was violated by the trial judge's improper and heated response to an objection made by defense counsel and in concluding that the remarks of the trial judge, on a whole, were not directed to either side ?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was indicted in July 2008 by the Richland County Grand Jury for two counts of Murder (2008-GS-40-3948, 2008-GS-40-1626), three counts of Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill (“ABWIK”) (2008-GS-40-1629, 2008-GS-40-1631, 2008-GS-40-1632), and one count of Possession of a Weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2008-GS-40-1627). On October 19, 2009, the Petitioner proceeded to trial by jury where he was convicted of all charges. The Honorable L. Casey Manning, presiding circuit judge, sentenced the Petitioner to two terms of life imprisonment on the Murder charges, to be served concurrently, and consecutive sentences of twenty years on each of the three ABWIK charges, and five years on the weapon charge.

The Petitioner timely filed a Notice of Appeal. On July 3, 2013, the South Carolina Court of Appeals filed an unpublished opinion affirming the Petitioner’s convictions and sentences. See State v. Johnnie Gaskins, Op. No. 13-UP-304 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 3, 2013). On July 18, 2013, the Petitioner timely filed a Petition for Rehearing. That Petition was denied by written order on August 6, 2013.

The Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari to the South Carolina Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 5th, 2007, Club 360 located at 826 Bush River Road in Columbia, South Carolina was having a Super Bowl Party that began late in the afternoon and continued after midnight. ROA at p. 34, l. 21-p. 36, l. 11; p. 46, ll. 8-16; p. 89, ll. 8-11. Around 12:30 a.m., staff members of Club 360 claim that the Petitioner was escorted out of the Club for unruly behavior. ROA at p. 41, ll. 20-24; p. 43, ll. 12-19; p. 90, l. 21-p. 91, l. 6. A friend of Petitioner's, Sydney Williams, testified that he was present and spoke with the security staff to obtain the Petitioner's release. ROA at p. 219, ll. 15-25; p. 92, ll. 13-24. Almost immediately after the Petitioner was escorted out the door, another unruly patron, Christopher Lyles, was forcibly removed. ROA at p. 93, ll. 18-23; p. 126, l. 18-p. 127, l. 7; p. 208, l. 16-p. 209, l. 8.

At approximately 1:00 a.m. in the morning, while security staff members were standing around the entrance to the club, someone began firing a weapon towards the front door. ROA at p. 43, l. 18-p. 44, l. 1. One of the contract security staff, Lamont Davis, testified that the suspect had pulled around the front of the Club in a vehicle and had fired multiple shots out of the window before driving away. ROA at p. 94, ll. 7-25. Davis stated that he fired four shots at the retreating vehicle from his .38 caliber revolver. ROA at p. 98, ll. 7-11. When the shooting ended, one of the bar patrons, Shannavia Williams, was dead and a member of the security staff, John Adams, was mortally wounded. ROA at p. 45, ll. 1-14; p. 434, ll. 4-13; p. 439, l. 20-p. 440, l. 4. Two other members of the security staff, Lamont Davis and Quentin Harris, were wounded in the shooting and another Club patron, Deirdre Houston, was wounded from a gunshot to the face. ROA at p. 95, ll. 17-23; p. 157, ll. 20-25; p. 295, ll. 8-14. A mobile phone allegedly belonging to Petitioner was found by the Club owner, Lindburgh Porterfield, inside the Club at some point

prior to the shooting, and was turned over to the Richland County Sheriff's Department in the ensuing investigation. ROA at p. 174, ll. 2-22; p. 180, l. 16-p. 181, l. 17; p. 172, ll. 12-23. A vehicle belonging to the mother of Petitioner's girlfriend was searched in connection with the shooting. ROA at p. 525, l. 5-p. 527, l. 23. The murder weapon was never recovered, but a weapon matching the caliber of shell casings recovered from the scene, belonging to two Club patrons, was turned into the police and subsequently excluded as unrelated. ROA at p. 535, ll. 5-9; p. 466, ll. 3-10; p. 472, l. 5-p. 473, l. 3; p. 479, l. 23-p. 480, l. 1.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Court of Appeals improperly concluded that the Trial Court correctly ruled on the issue of the admissibility of crime scene photographs depicting blood splatters and blood pooling, which were duplicative and admitted for the purpose of inflaming the passions of the jury.

A. How the Issue Arose Below

During the Petitioner's trial, the State sought to introduce numerous photographs of the Club's interior showing blood in the form of smears and splatters and pooling. ROA at p. 83, ll. 5-12; Court's Exhibit # 5: State's Photo Exhibit List. The photographs appeared to be taken in groups with distance shots that established the position of each bloodstain and then close-up shots of the blood. ROA at p. 85, ll. 15-21. Some of the photographs contained numerical markers near the blood stains. The State argued that the photographs were going to corroborate the testimony of Investigator Richards, whose report on blood analysis had been provided to the defense. ROA at p. 83, ll. 5-12. The State asserted that the photographs displayed the location and movement of at least one victim, who could identify her own trail of blood in testimony.

ROA at p. 83, l. 21-p. 84, l. 7. The Petitioner objected to these photographs on the grounds that they were gruesome and prejudicial, as well as duplicative and lacking in probative value. ROA at p. 82, l. 5-p. 83, l. 2; p. 85, l. 15-p. 86, l. 5; p. 86, l. 19-p. 88, l. 3. The judge denied the motion to exclude and found that the probative value of demonstrating where and how the victims were shot outweighed the prejudicial consequences of the evidence's introduction. Specifically, the judge stated:

I think it might be a close call but I do not believe the prejudice outweighs the probative value. Inasmuch as the jury already knows that two people were killed, three were shot, and at least at this point in time, I think I'll give the State an opportunity to connect the locations where the victims were shot, who was shot, where they were shot, that sort of thing. And at this point in time, Mr. McCulloch, it may be a close call but I think your objection is a little bit premature. If later on something evolves that I think prejudice does outweigh the probative value, I don't make that assessment at this time, I'll revisit it.

ROA at p. 88, ll. 14-25.

The Petitioner renewed his objection to the introduction of the contested photographs during the testimony of Deirdre Houston, one of the shooting victims. ROA at p. 285, ll. 5-14. The judge had the witness briefly provide in-camera testimony regarding the photographs. Houston generally described her location in the bar when she was struck and her movement in the immediate aftermath of the shooting. ROA at p. 286, l. 11-p. 289, l. 4. In an attempt to spare the witness, the Petitioner conceded that a proper foundation had been laid for the introduction of the photos, based on the victim's testimony. ROA at p. 287, l. 21-p. 288, l. 5. The Court denied the Petitioner's renewed motion to exclude the photographs. ROA at p. 289, l. 8-p. 290, l. 12. Some of these contested photos were admitted into evidence during the testimony of Houston,

the remaining photos were admitted during the testimony of Investigator Richards. ROA at pp. 289-290; pp. 345-347; State's Exhibits #22-46.

B. Argument on direct appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

In his appeal to the Court of Appeals, the Petitioner contended that while some testimony regarding the location of victims or the extent of bloodshed may have been relevant in this case, the extent to which the photographic evidence was presented by the State became both cumulative and prejudicial to the Petitioner. Furthermore, he argued that the prejudicial impact of this evidence was augmented by the chilling testimony of victim Deirdre Houston. Houston testified that she was crawling along the floor after being shot in the face and identifies her own bloody path from the pool tables to the bathroom in several of the afore-mentioned photos. The close-up photos of blood smears were prejudicial in and of themselves, even without a victim identifying the pathway of blood in the photos as originating from her own body. The Petitioner asserted that the extent of prejudice to the Petitioner resulting from the judge's denial of the motion to exclude more than outweighed the minimal probative value of the cumulative photographs. Consequently, the Petitioner argues that he is entitled to a new trial.

Evidence of the extent of a victim's injury is relevant in prosecutions for assault and battery with intent to kill and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. State v. Owens, 224 S.C. 533, 535, 80 S.E.2d 113, 114 (1954); see also State v. Brewington, 267 S.C. 97, 226 S.E.2d 249 (1976). Furthermore, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. However, relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE.

In State v. Franklin, our Supreme Court held that prejudicial photos of a crime scene and body, that would otherwise be inadmissible, were properly admitted where they demonstrated the aggravated circumstances that attended the crime; in that case, the defendant's brutal torture of the victim. State v. Franklin, 318 S.C. 47, 55, 456 S.E.2d 357, 361 (1995). The State v. Powers decision revisited Franklin and the Court clarified that aggravating circumstances are not necessary to admit gruesome and prejudicial photographs, as long as the evidence demonstrates the circumstance of the crime and the character of the defendant or else depicts the victim's body in the condition in which it was left. State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 47, 501 S.E.2d 116, 121 (1998).

The Petitioner agrees, as trial counsel did below, that *some* of the photographs introduced by the State regarding the locations of shooting victims were arguably relevant. ROA. at p. 87, ll. 16-21. However, once that evidence had been admitted, any further evidence detailing the extent of bloodshed became cumulative, rendering the probative value of the additional testimony minimal. The Petitioner would further assert that any probative value the photos had in demonstrating the circumstance of the crime or the defendant's character was very minimal, since the primary issue in this case was the identification of the shooter. The extent or manner of the injuries incurred and the movements of victim Houston were otherwise established through photographs taken from a distance of the Club's interior, testimony of the victims and the forensic pathologist and the cap of Deirdre Houston entered in evidence.¹ There was no clear item in dispute regarding either of these issues.

¹ The Petitioner would note that the State introduced a cap worn by shooting victim Deirdre Houston, which was found with a bullet fragment attached to its fabric. ROA p. 296, ll. 9-16; p. 399, l. 1-p. 400, l. 8.

This highly inflammatory evidence was designed to inflame the jury and distract them from the operative question which *was not* how the victims were injured or even where they were located during and after the shooting. The true operative question was whether the State's theory of the shooting could establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Petitioner was the shooter. These inflammatory photographs should therefore have been excluded from evidence in the State's case in chief. The defense team did not put forth any evidence to contradict the manner of victim's injuries or the victims' locations throughout the Club; the issues cited by the State in its defense of the photographs' relevancy. Had the defense done so in its case, the State could have possibly justified the introduction of additional photographic evidence on Reply. "There can be no justice in a trial by jurors inflamed by passion..." Groppi v. Wisconsin, 400 U.S. 505, 511 (1971) (footnote 12) (quoting Crocker v. Justices of Superior Court, 208 Mass. 162, 179, 94 N.E. 369, 377-378 (1911)).

By permitting the State to present unnecessarily cumulative photographic evidence of the bloodshed at the crime scene, the trial court impermissibly and undeniably prejudiced the Petitioner. The cumulative close-up photographs served *no* purpose except to exacerbate the jury's reaction to the victim and eyewitness testimony. There was no testimony suggesting that the contour of any of the blood evidence provided any forensic information of relevance in this case. If there had been, the State might have a stronger basis for their position that the jury for some reason needed a close-up view of the blood in some location(s).

As the Petitioner respectfully argued in his Petition for Rehearing, the opinion of the Court of Appeals either overlooked or misapprehended a significant factual question with regard to the lower court's error in admitting bloody crime scene photographs. Specifically, the decision of the Court of Appeals found that the photographs in question were probative in that

they showed, “the actions of one of the victims during the shooting” as corroborated by the State’s expert through the photographs in question. App. p. 4. This portion of the decision of the Court of Appeals failed to take into account two significant factors.

First, the shots fired in this case were made from the window of a car that had pulled up in front of the club where this incident took place. A witness from the security staff of the club testified to the fact that the shooter pulled up and fired multiple shots out of the window of the car before driving away. ROA at p. 94, ll.7-11. Witnesses described the shooter as firing shots from outside towards the front door. ROA at p. 43, l.18 – p. 44, l. 1. Thus, how the victims responded to the shots was not directly relevant to the operative question of who fired them. Although the photographs did not depict bodies, they were extremely bloody and gruesome. Where they had no probative value on the operative issue before the jury for decision, their potential for appealing to the passions and emotions of the jury clearly outweighed any evidentiary value they had and therefore, the Petitioner respectfully submits, they should have been excluded from evidence.

Secondly, the photographs in question were clearly cumulative to others introduced without objection from the Petitioner. ROA at p. 87, ll.16 – 21. Assuming, *arguendo*, that the photographs of the interior of the club had any logical relevance to the issues before the lower court, other photographs admitted without objection addressed the issues demonstrated through this photographic evidence. Therefore, the inclusion in evidence of the particularly graphic photos introduced over the objection of the Petitioner constituted reversible error where the evidence in question served no purpose except to inflame the passions as prejudices of the jury.

As argued by the Petitioner in his Brief, *“There can be no justice in a trial by jurors inflamed by passion...”* *Groppi v. Wisconsin*, 400 U.S. 505, 511 (1971) (footnote 12) (quoting *Crocker v. Justices of Superior Court*, 208 Mass. 162, 179, 94 N.E. 369, 377-378 (1911)). The Petitioner respectfully submits that by permitting the State to present unnecessary and cumulative photographic evidence of the bloodshed at the crime scene, the trial court impermissibly prejudiced the Petitioner. The cumulative close-up photographs at issue served *no purpose* except to exacerbate the jury’s reaction to the victim and eyewitness testimony.

C. Argument for Reversal.

The Petitioner now respectfully asserts that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that this prejudicial evidence had probative value sufficient to outweigh its obvious potential for inflaming the passions and prejudices of the Petitioner’s jury. Accordingly, the Petitioner argues that he should be granted a new trial.

II.

The lower court erred in denying the Petitioner’s motion for a mistrial following improper hearsay testimony concerning an alleged dying declaration, that had not been previously disclosed to the defense, and an alleged statement made by an anonymous caller on Petitioner’s mobile phone.

A. How the issue developed at trial.

During his direct examination, the Club owner, Porterfield, set forth his limited acquaintance with the Petitioner and described the circumstances of Petitioner’s departure from the Club on the evening in question. ROA at p. 172, l. 12-p. 173, l. 21. Porterfield testified that, after the shooting, he was communicating with one of the victims, John Adams, before he died.

The State asked Porterfield, "What did he [Adams] say?" Porterfield replied, "*He [Adams] was like the guy that we put out, shot me, was shooting.*" ROA at p. 177, ll. 20-22. At this moment, the Defense Counsel began to object and was interrupted by the judge, who identified the statement as an exception to the general rule on hearsay. Defense Counsel then asked to approach and a conversation was had, off the record, before direct examination continued. ROA at p. 177, l. 23-p. 178, l. 5. The statement was not repeated.

Minutes later in the direct examination, Porterfield began speaking about the mobile phone, allegedly belonging to Petitioner, which he found in the Club earlier that night. He said that the phone began to ring when the investigators arrived, and that he answered it. At that point in time, Defense Counsel objected and the following statements were made on the record:

Mr. Mcculloch: And, Your Honor, of course we're going to object to anything that would not be proper—

The Court: What's your objection right now?

Mr. Mcculloch: My objection is to hearsay.

The Court: It's anticipatory, is that correct?

Mr. Mcculloch: It is anticipatory, Your Honor.

The Court: All right. Let's cross that river when we get to it. Right now, I'll note it but nothing has happened yet.

Mr. Meadors: We're not offering this for the truth of the matter asserted—

The Court: All right.

Mr. Meadors: Oh.

When you get a phone call, you answer it?

[Witness]: Yeah, I got two phone—two phone calls from two ladies.

[Mr. Meadors]: All right. What—who if anyone—what did the phone call say?

[Witness]: Well, as soon as I answered the phone, I was trying to disguise my voice because it wasn't my phone. I didn't know who it was. I was like, hello. And they was like, *Blackie (phonetic), was that you out there shooting?* I then, I was like, what, you know.

[Mr. Meadors]: Did someone say the name Black?

[Witness]: Yeah.

[Mr. Meadors]: Was it male or female?

Mr. Mcculloch: Your Honor, may we approach?

ROA at p. 180, l. 16-p. 181, l. 17. Earlier in his testimony, Porterfield had stated that he knew the Petitioner prior to the shooting and that the Petitioner was known to him as "Black." ROA at p. 172, ll. 12-23.

When the bench conference began, the Petitioner almost immediately moved for a mistrial on the ground that there were cumulative surprises in the evidence elicited by the State. In addition to an earlier in-camera identification of the suspect which had not been provided to the defense,² there was Porterfield's previously undisclosed testimony regarding a dying declaration and a speculative statement amounting to inadmissible hearsay from an anonymous caller. ROA at p. 182, l. 19- p. 183, l. 15; p. 187, l. 7- p. 188, l. 8. Petitioner's defense counsel further argued that a failure on the part of the State to disclose this information had created numerous Brady³ and Rule 5 violations.

The State responded that the first alleged violation, the witness identification, was not prejudicial as the witness had not testified in front of the jury. ROA at p. 184, l. 17-25. Regarding the second violation, the dying declaration, the State maintained that they had no prior

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