STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001904

RECEIVED

MAR 11 2014

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

V.

JOHNNIE WALKER GASKINS,

Petitioner

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

PETITIONER'S QUESTIONS PRESENTED ON CERTIORARI

I.

Did the Court of Appeals improperly concluded that the Trial Court correctly ruled on the issue of the admissibility of crime scene photographs depicting blood splatters and blood pooling, which were duplicative and admitted for the purpose of inflaming the passions of the jury?

II.

Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Petitioner's motion for a mistrial, based on the admission of improper and highly prejudicial hearsay testimony, in the form of a dying declaration and a statement from an anonymous telephone caller?

III.

Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to recognize that Petitioner's right to due process of law was violated by the trial judge's improper and heated response to an objection made by defense counsel and concluding that the remarks of the trial judge, on the whole, were not directed to either side?

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent adopts the Statement of the Case in its Final Brief of Respondent, p. 1-4.

ARGUMENT ON WHY CERTIORARI SHOULD BE DENIED

- I. **The trial court did not abuse its discretion in the admission of a series of photographs from the crime scene which showed blood where they had probative value in a case where the photographs were not unduly prejudicial or inflammatory. Further, it appears at the time of the introduction of the "close-up" photographs the Appellant had abandoned the earlier objection.**

During the trial, the prosecution introduced a series of crime scene photographs inside the Club 360 which also showed the various locations of blood at the crime scene. This evidence was used by law enforcement and a surviving victim, Deirdre Houston, to establish the location of the victim during and subsequent to the assault as she sought sanctuary from the assault. Although blood was present in the photographs, the challenged photographs do not show any bloody corpses or autopsy material. Rather it shows the crime scene and was used by the witnesses to help the jury to visualize the crime scene and understand the testimony of Ms. Houston. A review of the photographs suggest their relevance and although blood is present, a reasonable viewer would conclude that they are singularly or as a group not particularly gruesome or inflammatory. Judge Manning did not abuse his discretion in allowing the admission of the evidence. The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard in denying relief.

Furthermore, the original objections to the crime scene photographs were limited to close-up photographs of blood as being duplicative of initially unobjected distance photographs. However, when the close-up photographs were introduced through Sgt. Richards, the Appellant's defense counsel abandoned the original objections and they were introduced specifically without objection. ROA 345; Tr.p. 662, l. 12-18. ["without objection"]. [**Exhibit 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 41, 42, 44, 45, 46**]. Therefore the issue presented in this argument was abandoned at trial and is

not preserved for this Court's review.

The Court of Appeals based its ruling initially finding that the photographs were probative and aided the jury by showing the actions of one of the victims and corroborated an expert. App.p. 4,6.

The Court further stated:

Additionally, a review of these photos reveals nothing more than a generic crime scene of blood, with no bodies present. We are not convinced that, even if wrongly admitted, there was an undue tendency of the photographs to suggest a decision on an improper basis. Further, given the overwhelming evidence of Gaskins' guilt, we do not believe the photographs were of such a nature as to influence the jury's verdict. [citations omitted].

App.p. 4, 6. Respondent submits that certiorari is not warranted.

Standard of Review

In denying relief on this issue, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review. App.p. 6. The determination of the admissibility of photographs is similarly a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Goolsby, 275 S.C. 110, 268 S.E.2d 31 (1980). Photographs are properly excluded if they are entirely without relevance or are not substantially necessary to show material facts or conditions. State v. Nathari, 303 S.C. 188, 268 S.E.2d 597 (S.C. App. 1990). If the photographs serve to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit them. State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 466 S.E.2d 349 (1996); State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 339 S.E.2d 692 (1986). However, photographs calculated to "arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury, should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions." State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997). In State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 460 S.E.2d 368 (1995), the Court held properly admissible photographs and video of a crime scene which showed the victim's nude body lying in the living room floor with her face and body visibly swollen from the beating and other photographs showed blood smeared on the walls and floor. The Court found the photographs relevant to establish the crime scene. See *Annotation, Admissibility of Photographs of Corpse in*

Prosecution for homicide or civil action for causing death, 73 A.L.R. 2d 769 (1960). Compare, State v. Patrick, 289 S.C. 301, 345 S.E.2d 481 (1986) (photographs of autopsy of victim with significant amount of blood and no material purpose was improperly admitted). In Patrick, the Court noted that the color photograph of the victim on the autopsy table was extremely graphic and did not show the crime scene.

How the Issue Was Raised And Abandoned Below

The issue before this Court concerns the introduction of a series of photographs from the multiple victim crime scene at Club 360 which showed the location of blood. See Exhibits 22-43, 45-46. A review of the photographs reveal two categories of photographs. Some photographs were distant shots which revealed context to the specific location of the blood marked with identifying tags. Exhibit 22(I), 25 (J, K), 27 (K), 28 (K, L, M), 32 (N, O), 33 (N), 34 (N, O, P), 37 (P), 38 (Q), 39 (Q, R), 40 (R), 43 (S). The remainder of this group of photographs showed a close-up of the particular blood stain or splatter. Exhibit 23(I), 24 (J), 26 (K), 29 (L), 30 (M), 31 (stains depicted in 32), 35 (O), 36 (P), 41 (R), 42 (S), 45 (G), 46 (H). See also Court Exhibit #5, State's Photo Exhibit List (description of each photograph). ROA 581. It is with this second group of photographs that Appellant had his initial, but later abandoned objection.

During the trial, defense counsel McCulloch, while recognizing the liberal rule concerning the introduction of photographs within the Court's discretion, made an objection to the proposed photographs arguing that they were "duplicitous." Counsel McCulloch specifically stated that : "I do not object to them on the grounds that they show blood because this is obviously a case that involves blood. . . .But that fact is that these photographs duplicate each other and there is no point in that." ROA 81-82; Tr.p. 322-323. Counsel McCulloch also argued that the photos contained markers and close-ups and he questioned the relevance of showing where the blood was.

The prosecution, through Assistant Solicitor McDuffie stated that markers in the photos were placed there by crime scene investigator Sgt. Stan Richards. She stated that he had provided a report detailing what each one of the markers represented in terms of a blood pattern analysis, such as whether it was transferred, pooled, drops, and smears which the defense has. ROA 83, l. 5-12. The prosecution stated that the photographs were not duplicative and had been narrowed down. She declared that there was a photograph of each marker from a shot to orient it in the club and then a close-up shot. She stated that the prosecution had tried very hard not to duplicate and had viewed tons of photos. She stated that the matters would be presented through Investigator Richards and through the victim who can orient herself in the club through the path she followed after being shot. ROA 83; Tr.p. 324, l. 13-25.

Deputy Solicitor Meadors stated that they considered showing the photographs without the cards, but thought that it was important to show the jury through victim Houston that this was the route she went using the blood. He stated that multiple sets were eliminated by use of these photographs which include the markers. ROA 84; Tr.p. 325.

The prosecution declared that these would be the only photos of blood in the interior that they intended to use. She stated that there are some bullet holes in the interior that would be used that show the floor in the distance. However, she stated that none of the other photographs will have blood as a focus of the photographs.

At that point counsel McCulloch asked the court to take it into consideration overnight where McCulloch stated that he would either withdraw his motion or make it more specific, after he reviews Investigator Richards report. ROA 85; Tr.p. 326, l. 2-8. Judge Manning noted that it was kind of hard to keep blood out of a situation where two people were killed and three are shot. ROA 85; Tr.p. 326, l. 17-19.

The next day, counsel McCulloch stated that he had provide the clerk with an itemization of his groupings of the proposed evidence as a close-up shot of blood splatters, blood skids, and blood residue and then he established a further back shot from the close-up showing where the bar is. He stated that he was aware that case law gives discretion to the court. He stated that his “only objection is that the photographs are duplicative and there’s no real evidentiary value to a close-up shot of the blood.” ROA 85; Tr.p. 328, l. 15-25. He stated that it would be apparent to the jury that this is a heinous crime with lots of injuries and deceased people. He stated that it would serve no real purpose in duplicating photographs with the close-up shots. ROA 86; Tr. p. 329, l. 4-5.

He restated that he had reviewed the photographs proffered by the prosecution the previous night. He stated that he had provided the state his rendition of the photographs.¹ Counsel opined that most of the photographs can be grouped in pairs. He stated that they showed a close-up of a blood splatter or a blood skid or just a close-up of blood. He then described that there was a photograph that showed an “establishing shot” taken at a distance that shows in the club where the bloodstain was. ROA 87; Tr.p. 330, l. 1-6. He stated that in its discretion, the court can allow evidence that has some relevance, but that it should not be duplicative or cumulative. He then stated that “our objection is simply that there was no real purpose in having the close-up of blood. ROA 87; Tr.p. 330, l. 7-14.

Counsel McCulloch continued that the relevant and pertinent value of the “establishing shots” to show blood on the pool table, but not showing a close up or a tile with blood on it is other than to inflame the jury and increase the sympathy level. ROA 87; Tr.p. 330, l. 15-21.

Judge Manning then declared:

I don’t know where the particular individuals that were shot or wounded, where it happened, how it happened, what location they were in. I think at least you look at the location of pools of blood, I would be like, for example somebody was shot

¹This listing was made Court Exhibit 5 and is included in this record. See Tr.p. 332, l. 11-17. See ROA p. 581.(Court Exhibit 5).

against the wall you've got splattering and the bedroom or something like that will show where the victim was when they were wounded or shot.

I think it might be a close call, but I do not believe the prejudice outweighs the probative value, Inasmuch as the jury already knows that two people were killed, three were shot, and at least at this point in time, I think I'll give the state the opportunity to connect the locations where the victims were shot, who was shot, where they were shot, that sort of thing.

And at this point of time, Mr. McCulloch, it may be a close call but I think your objection is premature, If later something evolves that I think prejudice does outweigh the probative value, I don't make that assessment at this time, I'll revisit it. But for right now, I think it does have more probative value than prejudice to the defendant at this point in time.

ROA 88; Tr.p. 331, l.1-332, l. 2.

Concerning the use of the evidence, Respondent incorporates by reference its Final Brief of Respondent 12-19.² This portion of the summarized the testimony Deirdre Houston and Crime Scene Investigator Stan Richards.

1. The Admissibility of the "Close-up" Photograph Issue Is Barred From Review because the Evidence Was Ultimately Entered Without Objection.

A review of the petition and briefs before this Court reveals a lack of specificity concerning what particular photographs the Appellant is presently seeking for this Court to review. The problem with the Appellant's over broad assertion in this appeal most probably arises from the fact that the

² *The In Camera Proceeding Related to the Photographs.*

During Deirdre Houston's testimony, the trial court indicated that counsel McCulloch renewed the objection prior to the testimony of victim Deirdre Houston. ROA 285; Tr.p. 584. Judge Manning that he wanted the witness to do a dry run of her testimony outside of the jury's presence to see how she reacts when the witness identifies certain locations where she was and how she crawled to the bathroom. ROA 285; Tr.p. 584, l. 5-14. Counsel McCulloch stated that his interest was only whether she could authenticate the photographs, but not to punish her. ROA 285; Tr.p. 584, l. 16-19. Ms. Houston then in an *in camera* proceeding previewed her testimony identifying State Exhibit 15 as a diagram of Club 360, her testimony about feeling the sting of the bullet, crawling through the club to the bathroom and then identified State Exhibit 25. ROA 286-287; Tr.p. 595-586. At that point counsel McCulloch conceded that there was a proper foundation. ROA 287; Tr.p. 586, l. 16-25. The witness confirmed and recognized State 32 as her blood, State Exhibit 38 as her blood, and State Exhibit 40 and State Exhibit 43 as relating to her testimony. ROA 288-89; Tr.p. 587-588. Allegedly over the earlier objection, the establishing photographs of State Exhibits 25 (photograph of pool table), 28 (photograph of K,L,M), 32 (photograph of pool tables and blood), 38 (distant photograph of Q), 39 (distant photograph of Q and R), 40 (distant photograph of R), and 43 (distant photograph of S in restroom) were admitted. ROA 289-90; Tr.p. 588-589. However, none of the so-called "close-up" photographs were introduced at this time or during the testimony of Ms. Houston which were the basis of the defense's original objections.

defense counsel's initial objection were not to the "establishing" (distant) photographs, but only the "close-up" photographs as being duplicative. ROA 87; Tr.p. 330. The particular photographs that these objections concerned were never identified by the defense with any specificity. However, when the actual "close-up" photographs were introduced in evidence during the testimony of Sgt. Richards, the defense declared the introduction was "without objection." [Exhibit 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, 29, 30, 31, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 41, 42, 44, 45, 46]. ROA 345; Tr.p. 662, l. 12-18. ["without objection"].³ This issue as argued in this appeal is not preserved for this Court's review.

First, Judge Manning's pre-trial ruling on the close-up photographs was in a motion *in limine*. ROA 88; Tr.p. 331, l. 14-25. Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pretrial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury. A pretrial ruling on the admissibility of evidence is preliminary and is subject to change based on developments at trial. A ruling *in limine* is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review. See State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). Second, when the so called "close-up" photographs were subsequently introduced at trial, the Appellant expressly stated that they had no objection to the introduction. See State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) (holding a defendant who expressly consented to the admission of evidence at trial waived any right to raise the issue of admissibility on appeal). The issue was not preserved for this appeal. The Appellant abandoned the original objection during the trial when the defense allowed the admission of the "close-up" photographs without objection. ROA 345; Tr.p. 662.

2. The Admissions of the Crime Scene Photographs Were Relevant And the

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